No. 43422-9-II

Pierce County No. 11-1-03677-6

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUAN JOSE GOMEZ VASQUEZ,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
PIERCE COUNTY

---

The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Judge

---

*APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF*

---

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879  
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE  
Post Office Box 31017  
Seattle, Washington 98103  
(206) 782-3353

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant Juan Jose Gomez Vasquez was deprived of his Article 1, § 22 and Sixth Amendment rights to effective assistance of counsel at trial.

2. Extremely prejudicial, inflammatory and irrelevant evidence was admitted and deprived Gomez Vasquez of his state and federal due process rights to a fair trial before an untainted jury.

3. The prosecutor committed flagrant, prejudicial and ill-intentioned misconduct in eliciting and exploiting the improper “gun” evidence.

4. Gomez Vasquez was deprived of his Article 1, §22 and Sixth Amendments rights to self-representation.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. No guns were alleged to have been used in the crime, but a gun and some ammunition were found in a subsequent search of the house where Gomez Vasquez and others lived.

Initially, Gomez Vasquez was charged with crimes involving that firearm but, on the eve of trial, the prosecution filed an information removing those charges. Counsel nevertheless did not move to exclude the now irrelevant, prejudicial gun evidence, and the prosecutor then elicited that evidence at trial, relying on it in closing argument.

Was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to make any effort to prevent this extremely prejudicial evidence from being introduced and swaying the jury against his client, and then failing to attempt to try to minimize the damage?

Was he further ineffective in failing to move to preclude further use of the testimony once it had occurred, thus allowing the prosecutor to commit misconduct in exploiting the improper evidence?

Did the introduction and use of such highly emotional, inflammatory and prejudicial evidence deprive Gomez Vasquez of his state and federal due process rights to a fair trial?

2. Where a defendant makes an unequivocal, timely request to represent himself prior to trial, it is reversible error for the court to deny that request.

Gomez Vasquez filed a motion for self-representation more than a month before trial. Did the trial court err and violate appellant's state and federal rights to self-representation in failing to even consider this request?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Juan Jose Gomez Vasquez was charged by amended information with unlawful delivery of methamphetamine. CP 31; RCW 69.50.401(1)(2)(b). After pretrial proceedings and motions before the Honorable Judges Edmund Murphy on October 26 and December 13, 2011, and Katherine Stolz on November 2, 2011, pretrial and jury trial proceedings were held before the Honorable Judge Ronald Culpepper on March 3, 6-8, 2012.<sup>1</sup> Mr. Gomez Vasquez was found guilty as charged. CP 56; 4RP 1-4.

After sentencing and motion proceedings on April 27 and May 4, 2012, Gomez Vasquez was ordered to serve a standard-range sentence.

---

<sup>1</sup>The volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings consists of 8 volumes, which will be referred to as follows:  
the volume containing the proceedings of October 26 and December 13, 2011, as "1RP;"  
November 2, 2011, as "2RP;"  
March 3, 2012, as "3RP;"  
the 3 chronologically paginated volumes containing the trial proceedings of March 6-7, as "RP;"  
March 8, 2012, as "4RP;"  
April 27 and May 4, 2012, as "SRP."

CP 169-81; Mr. Gomez Vasquez appealed, and this pleading follows. See CP 185.

2. Testimony at trial

Kevin Gordon started using and dealing drugs when he was about 20 years old. RP 223, 245, 281. He started with cocaine but then turned to methamphetamine. RP 223. 25 years later, his wife had left him, taking their two sons, who were in their twenties by the time of trial. RP 221, 223.

Gordon conceded that his meth use had ruined parts of his life and he had been in prison multiple times because of his involvement in drugs, including dealing and making “meth.” RP 223, 245-47. He was still addicted at the time of trial, having relapsed only a few months before. RP 224, 245.

In April of 2010, Gordon was the focus of a police investigation of drug dealers. RP 221-22, 251. Gordon was caught. RP 223. He was offered and agreed to two different contracts settling multiple pending charges for crimes committed on several days in exchange for which he agreed to set up others for arrest as an “informant.” RP 223. The charges he won “deals” for involved three counts of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance committed in April and two counts of possession with intent to deliver, committed a month later. RP 252.

And even after he had been caught in these two incidents, sometime in about June of 2011, he was again found with an ounce of methamphetamine when he was pulled over by police as he drove out of a casino without his headlights on. RP 253-54.



Gordon admitted that an ounce was a “significant” amount of drugs and was not, in fact, a normal quantity for “personal use.” RP 255-58.

After the third incident, Gordon had already discussed signing an agreement to set someone up in a drug transaction in exchange for reducing his own time in jail with police, but had not yet done so. RP 257, 258. He was then put in jail for a probation violation and, while in custody for that offense, worked out the terms of his “deals.” RP 257, 259-60. The contracts were signed pleas were entered the end of July, 2011. RP 253.

As a result of his “deals,” Gordon walked out of jail that same day. RP 261. He had only served half of the time he had been ordered to serve for the probation violation. RP 25, 261. Gordon admitted that, without the “deals,” he was facing at least 10 years on just one of his cases. RP 251. On cross-examination, he conceded that the potential was for 20 years on the other case for which he got a “deal.” RP 262.

Under the contracts with police, Gordon was required to set up people for “felony narcotic charges of three separate one-ounce quantities of either heroin, methamphetamine, cocaine, or whatever[.]” RP 264. Officer James Buchanan of the Tacoma Police Department testified that Gordon was “on contract” with him after another officer, named Walkinshaw, had negotiated the contracts. RP 181.

It was Walkinshaw, not Buchanan, who was believed to have conducted “reliability” buys with Gordon, i.e., transactions officers do with possible informants in order to make sure they are able to perform and set people up and that they are “reliable.” RP 196-97.

Officer Buchanan could not say, however, whether there was any documentation of those “reliability” buys. RP 197.

On October 17, 2011, Gordon spoke with officers and told them he thought he could buy drugs from someone he knew as “Santana,” later identified as Juan Jose Gomez Vasquez. RP 184, 228. Either that day or the next, he made a phone call in front of officers, setting up a meeting at 56<sup>th</sup> and Portland. RP 184, 225-28.

On October 18, officers gave Gordon \$300 pre-recorded “buy” money and a scale, which later turned out to be broken. RP 225-28.

Gordon testified that, in addition to having him pull out his pockets, the officers did a “pat-down” of his body and legs. RP 244.

Officers did not have Gordon take off his shoes, nor did they look in his socks or pat down his private areas to make sure Gordon was not concealing any drugs in those places. RP 244.

Gordon claimed that he did not have any drugs concealed on himself that day. RP 229. Gordon admitted, however, that, as a long-time drug user and seller, he “always” had to conceal drugs “on his person.” RP 265. He then backtracked, declaring he usually just “put it in my pocket.” RP 265. But he conceded that, if he knew in advance that he would have to empty his pockets, he would put the drugs in different places. RP 265. He also admitted he would put it “[p]retty much” just about “anywhere” to conceal it. RP 265.

When asked what kind of “safety precautions” the officers take to ensure that an informant “doesn’t introduce anything into this investigation,” Officer Buchanan said people were first asked if they were

carrying anything, after which they would be asked to empty their pockets and officers would “conduct a thorough search to make sure that they’re not bringing anything in[.]” RP 184, 198.

Officer Buchanan admitted that he does not conduct body cavity searches, and that, in general, people who use drugs are not only good at lying but also can be “pretty adept” at concealing controlled substances in places like body cavities. RP 199. The officer also knew from experience that “[d]rug users like to lie quite a bit” and he had been lied to by them in the past. RP 196.

Buchanan confirmed, however, that police did not search Gordon’s shoes and did not check his private areas for drugs. RP 200, 244.

After giving him the money, the officers dropped Gordon off about a block away from the “meet location.” RP 267. According to Gordon, when he got to there, two vehicles were already there. RP 267. One of them was apparently a “Bronco,” but Gordon could not see who was inside. RP 268, 270.

Gordon said he got into one of the vehicles, a van, and there were people inside. RP 230, 268. Initially, Gordon testified that he did not know how many people were in the van, but there might have been three. RP 230. After a break in the testimony for the day, however, the next day Gordon then declared that only Gomez Vasquez and another man were inside. RP 230, 260, 268. The other man was the driver and, Gordon said, both that man and “Santana” were drinking. RP 230, 268.

Buchanan admitted he never saw Gordon get into any car or van. RP 202. When asked if he had observed “any possible transaction that

could have happened inside” the van, the officer first responded, “[o]ur surveillance unit saw those.” RP 202. A minute later, however, Buchanan backtracked, conceding that, in fact, all those officers saw was the vehicles, not anything that happened inside them. RP 202.

According to Gordon, he gave the money to Gomez Vasquez, who then got out of the van and “hopped on a bike and went down the street to get the drugs.” RP 229, 230, 268. Buchanan testified that, from where he was several blocks away, he noticed Gomez Vasquez ride up the street on a bike and then, a few minutes later, saw him go back. RP 185, 201.

Gordon said that Gomez Vasquez came back with a package of “stuff.” RP 269. Gordon admitted, however, that no one looked at the package, Gomez Vasquez did not show it to anyone and all that was visible was the outside of a bag, not its contents. RP 269.

At that point, Gordon said, they were calling people on a phone and trying to find a scale, because the one police gave him was not working. RP 229. Gordon said they went to the Goodwill parking lot to meet someone and then Gomez Vasquez eventually decided “just to go home,” so they went to his house. RP 229. Each time they moved, Gordon said, he texted Buchanan to let him know. RP 270. Buchanan said that Gordon had texted that they were going to the house to weigh and “cut up a bag” for Gordon. RP 208. They had already lost track of the “Bronco” by this time, although Gordon said that he thought that car was associated with Gomez Vasquez because it was “his Blazer.” RP 270-271.

According to Gordon, once they got to the home, Gomez Vasquez weighed the drugs out on a scale in a “baggie.” RP 230. Gordon said the

people who had been in the other vehicle also arrived, so that there were possibly five or six total people there for the first five minutes, after which a few more people arrived. RP 271. One of the people there started smoking meth but, despite his years of addiction, Gordon claimed he did not imbibe. RP 272.

Once the drugs were on the scale, Gordon said, Gomez Vasquez took some out, gave some to Gordon, and then had the driver of the van drive Gordon to drop him off at a place on 112<sup>th</sup>. RP 230, 272. Gordon had called the officers to tell them he was going to meet them there, so when he arrived he walked across the street towards them and then hopped into their truck. RP 231.

Buchanan said it was about 20 minutes from the time Gordon was let out of the police car to do the “deal” to the time he was picked up in the truck. RP 186-87. Gordon handed over the suspected drugs he claimed to have gotten from Gomez Vasquez, about 1/4 ounce of a substance which later tested positive for methamphetamine. RP 187, 218, 266.

Gordon initially testified that the only “search” the officers did at that point was to ask if he had “anything else” and make him turn his pockets inside out. RP 191, 232. A little later, however, Gordon said they also patted him down. RP 273.

Once again, however, officers did not have him take his shoes off or look in them or his socks. RP 273. Gordon admitted that the amount of drugs he had procured could well have been hidden in his shoe, although he denied having done so. RP 266, 278.

The officer also did not see any “deal” take place. RP 202.

Gordon conceded that he knew what was “expected” of him and that was to produce people the police could arrest for selling drugs. RP 273. If he did not produce those people, he thought, he would “probably go to prison.” RP 273. Gordon had “a lot of incentive” not to want to go there. RP 273. He denied, however, feeling “pressure to perform.” RP 274.

Gordon knew, however, that he had to keep the officers he was working with “happy.” RP 274. He had to contact them every day, and knew that, if he “crossed” one of them, they could “obviously” put him in prison. RP 275.

Gordon maintained that he did not think that the police would have lost faith in his ability to perform the contract if he had told police he could get something from someone but could not actually follow through. RP 275.

When asked what would happen if he had changed his story and said, “you know, on second thought, that might not have been the person that sold me the drugs,” he responded that this would probably be “stupid to do,” and that you “could get in trouble.” RP 276. He also thought it would not be “good” for him and that it was in his “best interest” to be consistent with what he first said, but also to “tell the truth.” RP 276. He agreed he would be “in trouble with the prosecutor” if his testimony was different. RP 277. He claimed, however, that he had done unsuccessful “deals” before and had not gotten in trouble for that. RP 282, 284.

At the same time, he admitted at trial that he was willing to do

almost anything to stay out of prison, although he drew the line at “killing someone.” RP 285.

Gordon testified at trial about his difficulties in fighting his addiction, and admitted that, at this very same time, during October of 2011, he had himself “relapsed” and was again involved in doing drugs. RP 245.

On September 7, 2011, Buchanan executed a search warrant at the house where Gordon had gone. RP 182. Several people were there, including Gomez Vasquez. RP 210. Although there was a document found with Gomez Vasquez’s name on it in the home, there were also documents found with other people’s names on them, so Buchanan knew “this wasn’t exclusively Mr. Gomez Vasquez’s residence.” RP 210.

Buchanan conceded that it appeared Gomez Vasquez was “tired, possibly high” when the officer spoke to him after Gomez Vasquez had been read his rights. RP 206. Initially, Gomez Vasquez admitted being a “consumer” of drugs. RP 193. Once he was told by police that “we had a delivery charge on him,” he admitted he sold had sold drugs, but did not say anything about when or to whom. RP 193. He was never asked specifically about Gordon or the alleged transaction on the 18<sup>th</sup>. RP 207.

In the search of the house, no “large quantities of drugs” was found. RP 205. Some marijuana was found and there were some pills in a room suspected to belong to Gomez Vasquez. RP 205.

The officer admitted he found no methamphetamine, no heroin and no marked money at all. RP 205.

D. ARGUMENT

1. REVERSAL IS REQUIRED BECAUSE IMPROPER, PREJUDICIAL AND HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY IRRELEVANT GUN EVIDENCE WAS INTRODUCED AND USED AT TRIAL AND COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee the accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996), overruled in part and on other grounds by, Carey v. Musladin, 549 U.S. 70, 127 S. Ct. 649, 166 L. Ed. 2d 482 (2006); Sixth Amend.; Art. I, § 22. Further, defendants have a due process right to a fair trial before an unbiased jury. See, e.g., State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 761-62, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). This due process guarantee can be denied by introduction of improper evidence, prosecutorial misconduct, or counsel's failure to live up to minimum standards and thus serve his crucial role. See State v. Webbe, 122 Wn. App. 683, 694, 94 P.3d 994 (2004).

In this case, reversal is required, because the prosecution introduced and used inflammatory highly prejudicial evidence of a completely irrelevant, unrelated gun, counsel was utterly ineffective in relation to this damaging misconduct and the result was that Mr. Gomez Vasquez was deprived of his constitutional rights to a fair trial.

a. Relevant facts

In charging the case, the prosecution initially accused Gomez Vasquez, *inter alia*, of second-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 2. The prosecution also filed a Declaration for Determination of



Probable Cause, in which a prosecutor said that “the police report and/or investigation provided” him with information about the originally charged crimes, including that a search of the home where Gomez Vasquez was believed to live turned up a “handgun, magazines. . . [and] ammunition[.]” CP 4-5. These items were found in a different bedroom than the one in which Gomez Vasquez was found, along with several other people, at the time of the search. CP 4-5.

At the bail hearing on November 2, 2011, the prosecutor argued against lowering bail, mentioning not only the possible standard range if convicted but also that “[t]here was a gun involved. He is a felon, there was a gun in the house.” IRP 6. Counsel responded that he did not think it was a “proper place to argue any of the facts of the case,” but that he had looked at the gun allegations somewhat:

I have had contact - - I am, excuse me - - I’ve tried to contact the owner of the residence in question in terms of the firearm. The firearm was found in a bedroom. At this point, I don’t know that there is indications that that was my client’s room other than it was in the same house.

IRP 6. In denying the request to lower bail, the judge declared, “[t]here appears to be a likelihood of danger considering both the gun and his prior record.” IRP 7.

Prior to trial, however, on March 6, 2012, the prosecutor filed an amended information dismissing all charges except the single offense of unlawful delivery of methamphetamine on October 18, 2011. CP 31. In a trial memorandum filed the same day, counsel acknowledged that the amended information charged only that single drug count. CP 53. That memo included several motions, including a general request to exclude

“prior bad acts” under ER 404(b). CP 54. Counsel declared the prosecution had not indicated an intent to “introduce any testimony or evidence regarding any alleged prior bad acts” at that time, but asked for “ample notice and an opportunity to respond” should that change. CP 54-55. Counsel’s apparent concern was that Gordon had said in defense interviews that he had “allegedly in the past both sold and purchased controlled substances to and from the Defendant.” CP 55.

That same day, when the parties appeared in front of the court, counsel and Mr. Gomez Vasquez said that they had reviewed the amended information together. RP 4-5. Counsel also said he had been told about the amendment “late last week.” RP 5. He made no request for additional time to reevaluate his case strategy or get further prepared. RP 4-6.

The parties also discussed the “404(b)” motion, with the prosecutor arguing that he should be allowed to elicit evidence that Gomez Vasquez was a “known drug dealer,” according to police. RP 10-12. The court was unconvinced by the prosecutor’s argument that, “if it’s part of the investigation, it’s not a prior bad act” and excluded the evidence as irrelevant, although it told the prosecution it could raise the issue again if it thought “the door had been opened.” RP 12. There was no discussion of the gun or ammunition evidence. RP 10-20.

During trial, in redirect examination of Officer Buchanan, the prosecutor asked about what was found in the house during the search. RP 208. The following exchange occurred:

Q: So Mr. Kim [defense counsel] was asking you about some of the things you found in the house. Did you find a scale in the house?

A: Yes.

Q: **Did you find a gun in the house?**

A: **Yes.**

Q: **Did you find bullets in the house?**

A: **Yes.**

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