NO. 43422-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JUAN GOMEZ VASQUEZ, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

No. 11-1-03677-6

Response Brief

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

KATHLEEN PROCTOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

- 8 -

Here, defendant fails to overcome the presumption of effective assistance of counsel. The record shows that defense counsel did not seek to exclude the evidence of the gun or any of the items found during the execution of the search warrant at defendant's house. Defendant fails to meet his burden of demonstrating that the motion would likely have been granted because he offers no support for why the evidence should have been excluded. Here, as in most ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on failure to bring a motion to exclude, the record is too undeveloped to support defendant's claim because there was no hearing to determine the admissibility of the evidence. As there is no indication of why the motion would likely have been granted, defendant fails to meet this burden.

Further, defense counsel's decision not to bring a motion to exclude can be characterized as a legitimate tactical decision because it was not inconsistent with his theory of defense. Defense counsel's theory of defense rested on the argument that the evidence found belonged to other residents of the home. RP 210. In support of this theory, defense counsel elicited testimony from Officer Buchanan to suggest that defendant was not the sole occupant of the home. RP 210.

- Q. Officer Buchanan, this residence that you searched, is it your understanding, how many people live there?
- A. I don't know. We only found three people inside the

house.

- Q. Did you find -- you said you found a document with Mr. Gomez Vasquez's name on it?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you find any documents with other people's names on them?
- A. Yes.
- Q. So safe to say there was, at least, one other person living at the house?
- A. Yes.
- Q. So this wasn't exclusively Mr. Gomez Vasquez's residence?
- A. Correct.

RP 210.

As the courts will not find deficient performance where counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy, defendant's claim fails when counsel's decision not to bring a motion to exclude is consistent with his theory of defense.

b. <u>Defendant fails to demonstrate that defense</u> counsel was ineffective for failing to object.

Defendant alleges that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to evidence of a gun found during a search of defendant's home when it was adduced at trial. Brief of Appellant at 11. Defendant's claim fails as counsel's decision not to object to the evidence can be characterized as a tactical decision and defendant fails to demonstrate any prejudice. "The decision of when or whether to object is a classic example of trial tactics." *State v. Madison*, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). Specifically, where a defendant challenges defense counsel's failure to object during closing argument, the courts have recognized that "[1]awyers do not commonly object during closing argument 'absent egregious misstatements.' A decision not to object during summation is within the wide range of permissible professional legal conduct." *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 717, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). To establish ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to object to testimony, the defendant must show (1) the absence of a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for not objecting; (2) that the trial court would have differed if the evidence has not been admitted. *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998).

The record shows that defense counsel made no objection when the evidence was adducted at trial. RP 208. Defendant's claim fails because defense counsel's decision not to object can be characterized as a legitimate tactical decision in two ways. First, defense counsel's decision not to object to the evidence was likely a tactical decision because it was consistent with the theory of defense that the evidence belonged to other residents of the house. RP 208. Second, defense counsel likely made the decision not to object as a tactical decision because doing otherwise would have only brought attention to the evidence. Moreover, defense counsel was an effective advocate for his client. He successfully brought pre-trial motions, made opening and closing statements, and objected at trial when proper. 3/6/12 RP 8-9; RP 173, 191, 307. As such, defendant fails to demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient.

Defendant also fails to meet his burden of proving that the outcome of the trial would have been different had defense counsel objected to the evidence. The jury heard not only Mr. Gordon's testimony of his first-hand drug exchange with defendant, but also Officer Buchanan's testimony to corroborate Mr. Gordon's testimony. The jury was also presented with the evidence of defendant's statement to the police admitting that he sold drugs.

As defense counsel's decision not object to the evidence of the gun can be characterized as a legitimate tactical decision, defendant's claim fails and this Court should dismiss his claim and affirm his conviction.

2. DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW THAT THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY ADDUCED EVIDENCE OF A GUN THAT WAS FOUND IN THE SEARCH OF DEFENDANT'S HOUSE WHEN THE COURT HAD NOT EXCLUDED THE EVIDENCE.

Defendant claims that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by eliciting evidence of a gun found during the execution of a search warrant of defendant's house. Brief of Appellant at 16. Defendant's claim fails as the court made no ruling to exclude the evidence from trial.

A defendant alleging prosecutorial misconduct carries the burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was improper. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Carver*, 122 Wn. App. 300, 306, 93 P.3d 947 (2004). Once defendant has established that the conduct was improper, defendant must also show that the conduct prejudiced his right to a fair trial. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760; *Carver*, 122 Wn. App. at 306 ("Prejudice is established only where 'there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." (internal citations omitted)). The court reviews the prosecutor's conduct in "the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instruction given." *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

Where a defendant fails to object to the alleged misconduct at trial, then the defendant must also show that the conduct was so flagrant, illintentioned, and prejudicial that any resulting prejudice could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760–61. Under this heightened standard, defendant must show that the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. *Id.* at 761; *see also Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 26–28 (finding that the defendant's right to a fair trial was not prejudiced even though the prosecutor had repeatedly shifted the burden of proof to the defense in spite of a court's orders to the contrary).

> a. Defendant fails in his burden to show that the prosecutor's conduct in adducing the evidence was improper, much less that it was so flagrant, ill-intentioned, and prejudicial such that any prejudice could have been remedied with a curative instruction.

The record shows that defendant did not object when the State adduced the evidence of the gun at trial. RP 208. Accordingly, defendant bears not only the burden of demonstrating that the conduct was improper, but also the higher burden of showing that the conduct had a *substantial likelihood* of affecting the jury's verdict. Defendant fails this burden. The alleged misconduct was not so prejudicial that it could not have readily been remedied by a curative instruction to the jury to disregard if only defendant had objected and requested it.

The record shows that the prosecutor adduced evidence that, during the execution of the search warrant, a gun and ammunition was found in the residence. RP 208. No motions were brought to exclude the evidence found within the residence during the execution of the search warrant. Defendant fails to identify any pre-trial motion that he raised to exclude introduction of such evidence. The State can find no indication of such a motion being brought nor can defendant identify any point where the court ruled that the evidence was inadmissible.¹ As the court made no ruling to exclude the evidence, the State did not act improperly by adducing the evidence found during the execution of the warrant. As such, this Court should dismiss defendant's claim and affirm his conviction.

b. Defendant fails his burden to show that the prosecutor's reference to the gun in closing was improper, much less that it was so flagrant, ill-intentioned, and prejudicial such that any prejudice could have been remedied with a curative instruction.

Defendant claims that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by referring to evidence of a gun found during the execution of the search warrant of defendant's home at closing. Brief of Appellant at 16. Defendant's claim fails as the evidence was supported by the record and not adduced for improper purposes. RP 208.

A defendant alleging prosecutorial misconduct carries the burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was improper. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Carver*, 122 Wn. App. 300, 306, 93 P.3d 947 (2004). Once defendant has established that the conduct was improper, defendant must also show that the conduct prejudiced his right to a fair trial. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760; *Carver*, 122 Wn. App. at 306

¹ Any weakness in the record as to the admissibility of the evidence must be held against the defendant as the record would have been developed.

("Prejudice is established only where 'there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." (internal citations omitted)). The court reviews the prosecutor's conduct in "the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instruction given." *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

Where a defendant fails to object to the alleged misconduct at trial, then the defendant must also show that the conduct was so flagrant, illintentioned, and prejudicial that any resulting prejudice could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760–61. Under this heightened standard, defendant must show that the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. *Id.* at 761; *see also Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 26–28 (finding that the defendant's right to a fair trial was not prejudiced even though the prosecutor had repeatedly shifted the burden of proof to the defense in spite of a court's orders to the contrary).

Contrary to defendant's claim that the prosecutor's conduct was improper for referencing the evidence, his claim fails not only because the evidence was supported by the record, but also because the State only used it to show that the items seized during the warrant were consistent with drug dealing activities as a means of corroborating the testimony of the state's key witness. [Mr. Gordon] told you what he did find at the house. What was the reason? Ask yourselves, think about this, why did Mr. Gordon tell you that they went to his house? What did they need? You remember. He said, a scale, right? What did Officer Buchanan tell you that he found in that house? A scale. I'm going to hang up another little peg for Mr. Gordon, right. Everything keeps supporting what he told you. You didn't find any methamphetamine, no, but I found some other drugs. You didn't find any methamphetamine, but I found a loaded handgun.

RP 304.

Officer Buchanan's testimony of the evidence found during the search was consistent with evidence typically found at drug deals and tended to corroborate Mr. Gordon's testimony that a drug transaction occurred there. The argument was not made to suggest that defendant was dangerous or a criminal, only that Mr. Gordon should be believed.

As the evidence was supported by the record and not referenced for improper purposes, this Court should dismiss defendant's claim and affirm his conviction.

3. AS DEFENDANT FAILED TO TIMELY ASSERT HIS REQUEST TO PROCEED PRO SE, HE WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO SELF-REPRSENTATION.

Defendant claims that his constitutional right to self-representation was violated because the court did not acknowledge his pro se motion for self-representation. Brief of Appellant at 24. Defendant's claim fails as he did not timely assert his request to proceed pro se, thus waiving his right to self-representation. The right to self-representation necessarily involves the waiver of the right to counsel, and can only be invoked by waiving counsel expressly, knowingly, and intelligently. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 2533, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); *U.S. v. Chatman*, 584 F.2d 1358 (4th Cir. 1978). In the absence of a clear and knowing election, a court should not quickly infer that a defendant unskilled in the law has waived counsel and has opted to conduct his own defense. *Brewer v. Williams*, 430 U.S. 387, 404, 97 S. Ct. 1232, 1242, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1976). The court must indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of counsel. *Id*.

The right to proceed without fully independent counsel must be affirmatively requested and is more easily waived than right to independent counsel. *U.S. v. Mahar*, 550 F.2d 1005, 1009 (5th Cir. 1977). The right to self-representation is waived if not timely asserted or by subsequent conduct giving the appearance of uncertainty. *U.S. vs. Dunlap*, 577 F.2d 867 (4th Cir.); *Brown v. Wainwright*, 665 F.2d 607 (5th Cir. 1982).

If the right is not asserted before trial, it becomes discretionary with the trial court whether to allow the defendant to proceed pro se. *U.S. v. Weisz*, 718 F.2d 413 (D.C. Cir.); *U.S. vs. Dunlap*, 577 F.2d 867 (4th

Cir.). A waiver may be found if it reasonably appears to the court that defendant has abandoned his initial request to represent himself. *Brown v.Wainwright*, 665 F.2d at 611 (5th Cir. 1982).

Here, defendant's right to self-representation was not violated because he waived his right to self-representation by failing to assert that right in a timely manner. The record shows that the first time that defendant notified the court of his desire to represent himself was after the trial had been completed. 4/27/12 RP 7. Defendant, who was represented by counsel, filed numerous pleadings during the course of the proceedings. CP 14-16, 150-154, 160-166, 284-269. Among a litany of motions defendant filed pro se was a handwritten Motion and Demand for Self-Representation. CP 14-16. Despite filing these numerous motions, defendant failed to properly bring any of them to the attention of the court in a timely manner. As a defendant has no right to hybrid representation, the court was under no obligation to consider such motions. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). It was not until after the jury had convicted defendant that his counsel asked the court to address the pro se motions. 4/27/12 RP 5-6. There is nothing in the record to show that defendant asserted his right to self-representation prior to or during trial or that the court was aware that one of the motions filed pertained to self-representation. Instead, the record shows that defendant

allowed defense counsel to advocate for him throughout trial, and that only after he was found guilty was the court asked to rule on a request to proceed pro se. 4/27/12 RP 7. The court recognized this stating, "You weren't pro se on that case; you were represented by Mr. Kim. The case is over." 4/27/12 RP 9. By failing to bring to the attention of the court his motion to proceed pro se and allowing defense counsel to represent him throughout trial, defendant clearly waived his right to self-representation.

As it is well established that failure to timely assert the right to self-representation is a waiver of that right, defendant waived his right to self-representation by failing to timely notify the court of his request.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

Defendant received effective assistance of counsel where defense counsel's decision not to bring a motion to exclude evidence of a gun or object when it was adduced at trial can be characterized as a legitimate tactical decision. Further, defendant fails in his burden to show that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when he made no objection to the evidence, the evidence was supported by the record, and not argued for improper purposes. Finally, defendant waived his right to selfrepresentation by failing to properly notify the court of his request. As such, this Court should dismiss defendant's claims and affirm his conviction.

DATED: April 9, 2013.

MARK LINDQUIST Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

uch llor

KATHLEEN PROCTOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 14811

Robin Sand Legal Intern

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